

# Standards for Community-Based Mental Health Services

#### Third edition, 2019

Editor: Rob Chaplin Publication Code: CCQI313





## Contents

Foreword	02
Introduction	03
Standards:	
1. Access, referral and waiting times	05
2. Preparing for the assessment	05
3. Initial assessment	05
4. Following up patients who do not attend appointments	06
5. Reviews and care planning	06
6. Care and treatment	
6.1 Therapies and activities	07
6.2 Medication	07
7. Physical healthcare	08
8. Risk and safeguarding	08
9. Discharge planning and transfer of care	08
10. Interface with other services	09
11. Capacity and consent	09
12. Patient involvement	09
13. Carer engagement and support	10
14. Treating patients with compassion, dignity and respect	10
15. Providing information to patients and carers	10
16. Patient confidentiality	10
17. Service environment	11
18. Leadership, team-working and culture	11
19. Staffing levels	11
20. Staff recruitment, induction and supervision	12
21. Staff wellbeing	12
22. Staff training and development	12
23. Clinical outcome measurement	13
24. The service learns from feedback, complaints and incidents	13
References	14
Acknowledgements	18



## Foreword

I am pleased to introduce the Royal College of Psychiatrists' third edition of core standards for community mental health services. These standards, which have been closely aligned to the patient experience, are designed to be used across all mental health services to improve the quality of care provided. The standards cover important areas such as: providing timely evidence-based care and treatment, supporting and involving patients and carers and treating them with dignity, looking after staff, evaluating and improving services.

Setting core standards for mental health services allows healthcare professionals, patients and carers to have a shared understanding of what a good quality service looks like and promotes a reduction in unnecessary variation in how services are delivered, and the quality of the care offered.

These standards will be used across all College Centre for Quality Improvement (CCQI) quality networks and accreditation programmes. The College's first quality network was established in 2001 and there are now over 20 networks using a similar methodology with a wide range of mental health services. Over 1500 services around the UK participate in these programmes. This new edition of the core standards will ensure that the CCQI's work continues to make a significant contribution to improving the quality of mental health services as the networks reach their 20th anniversary.

I would like to thank the patients, carers, healthcare professionals and CCQI (College Centre for Quality Improvement) staff who have worked to develop this third edition of the core standards.

#### Dr Adrian James

Registrar of the Royal College of Psychiatrists

## Introduction

#### Description and scope of the standards

The third edition of the core standards for community-based mental health services has been revised by the Royal College of Psychiatrists' College Centre for Quality Improvement (CCQI). It is based on the first edition which was created by the CCQI and the British Standards Institution (BSI) in 2015.

The community-based standards cover access to services and what a good assessment looks like as well as care, treatment and discharge planning. They also cover the service environment, staffing and governance.

#### How the standards were developed

A literature review was undertaken to identify any evidence published since publication of the second edition which could be used to update standards and create new standards. The standards then underwent a consultation process. This was done by a working group of multi-disciplinary mental health professionals, patient representatives and CCQI staff that was led by Dr Rob Chaplin (Clinical Lead for Accreditation, CCQI).

The group reviewed all standards considering how critical they were to quality and their proximity to patient experience. Other factors considered included their measurability, if there was any repetition and whether the content was appropriate for core standards and could be applied across a range of mental health services. As a result, the standards have reduced in length by approximately 30%. We believe that this will enable participating services and reviewers to focus on the issues that are key to quality.

The following principles were used to guide the development of these standards:

- Access: Patients have access to the care and treatment that they need, when and where they need it.
- **Compassion:** All services are committed to the compassionate care of patients, carers and staff.
- Valuing relationships: The value of relationships between people is of primary importance.
- Service user and carer involvement: Patients and carers are involved in all aspects of care.
- Learning environment: The environment fosters a continuous learning culture.
- Leadership, management, effective and efficient care: Services are well led and effectively managed and resourced.
- Safety: Services are safe for patients, carers and staff.

#### How the core standards will be used

The core standards will be used by the quality networks and accreditation programmes within the CCQI. Each project will take on the relevant core standards which will be used alongside their own specialist standards that relate to the service type being reviewed.





#### Use of terminology

The core inpatient standards use the terms 'patient' and 'carer'. The decision was made to use these terms during the consultation process for the first edition of the core standards. When projects come to take on these standards, they may change these terms to best suit their specialty. For example, child and adolescent mental health services may wish to replace the term 'patient' with 'young person'.

Some of the standards have a 'p' next to their number which denotes a 'placeholder' standard. When projects come to take on the placeholder standards, they will be expected to adapt the standards to meet their specialty requirements.

#### Criteria

All criteria are rated as Type 1, 2 or 3.

**Type 1:** Essential standards. Failure to meet these would result in a significant threat to service user safety, rights or dignity and/or would breach the law. These standards also include the fundamentals of care, including the provision of evidence-based care and treatment.

Type 2: Expected standards that most services should meet.

Type 3: Desirable standards that high performing services should meet.

Number	Туре	Standard	Ref
1		Access, referral and waiting times	
1.1	1	The service reviews data at least annually about the people who use it. Data are compared with local population statistics and actions taken to address any inequalities of access that are identified.	1,2
1.2	3	Everyone can access the service using public transport or transport provided by the service.	2
1.3	1	The service provides information about how to make a referral and waiting times for assessment and treatment.	2, 5, 6, 7, 8
1.4	1	A clinical member of staff is available to discuss emergency referrals during working hours.	9
1.5	2	Where referrals are made through a single point of access, these are passed on to the community team within one working day unless it is an emergency referral which should be passed across immediately.	2, 9, 10, 11
1.6	1	The team assess patients, who are referred to the service, within an agreed timeframe.	2, 10, 11

2		Preparing for the assessment	
2.1	1	<ul> <li>For non-emergency assessments, the team makes written communication in advance to patients that includes:</li> <li>The name and title of the professional they will see;</li> <li>An explanation of the assessment process;</li> <li>Information on who can accompany them;</li> <li>How to contact the team if they have any queries or require support (e.g. access to an interpreter, how to change the appointment time or have difficulty in getting there).</li> </ul>	2, 12, 13
2.2	1	<ul> <li>Patients are given accessible written information which staff members talk through with them as soon as is practically possible. The information includes:</li> <li>Their rights regarding consent to treatment;</li> <li>Their rights under the Mental Health Act;</li> <li>How to access advocacy services;</li> <li>How to access a second opinion;</li> <li>Interpreting services;</li> <li>How to view their records;</li> <li>How to raise concerns, complaints and give compliments.</li> </ul>	2, 8, 13, 14, 15, 16

3		Initial assessment	
3.1	1	Patients feel welcomed by staff members when attending the team base for their appointments. Guidance: Staff members introduce themselves to patients and address them using the name and title they prefer.	2, 17, 18

Number	Туре	Standard	Ref
3.2	1	<ul> <li>Patients have a comprehensive evidence-based assessment which includes their:</li> <li>Mental health and medication;</li> <li>Psychosocial and psychological needs;</li> <li>Strengths and areas for development.</li> <li>Suicide risk.</li> </ul>	2, 3, 13, 16, 19
3.3	1	A physical health review takes place as part of the initial assessment, or as soon as possible.	2, 4, 20, 21
3.4	1	Patients have a risk assessment and management plan which is co-produced, updated regularly and shared where necessary with relevant agencies (with consideration of confidentiality). The assessment considers risk to self, risk to others and risk from others.	2, 3, 8, 22, 23
3.5	1	All patients have a documented diagnosis and a clinical formulation. Where a complete assessment is not in place, a working diagnosis and a preliminary formulation is devised.	2, 24
3.6	2	The team sends correspondence detailing the outcomes of the assessment to the referrer, the GP and other relevant services within a week of the assessment.	25

<sup>4</sup> Following up patients who do not attend a		appointments	
4.1	1	The team follows up patients who have not attended an appointment/assessment. If patients are unable to be engaged, a decision is made by the assessor/team, based on patient need and risk, as to how long to continue to follow up the patient.	2, 8, 26
4.2	1	If a patient does not attend for an assessment / appointment, the assessor contacts the referrer. Guidance: If the patient is likely to be considered a risk to themselves or others, the team contacts the referrer immediately to discuss a risk action plan.	2, 3, 26

1	Patients know who is co-ordinating their care and how to contact them if they have any questions.	27
1	The team has a timetabled meeting at least once a week to discuss allocation of referrals, current assessments and reviews. <i>Guidance: Referrals that are urgent or that the team feel do not</i> <i>require discussion can be allocated before the meeting.</i>	2, 26, 28
1	<ul> <li>Every patient has a written care plan, reflecting their individual needs.</li> <li>Staff members collaborate with patients and their carers (with patient consent) when developing the care plan and they are offered a copy.</li> <li><i>Guidance: The care plan clearly outlines:</i> <ul> <li>Agreed intervention strategies for physical and mental health;</li> <li>Measurable goals and outcomes;</li> <li>Strategies for self-management;</li> <li>Any advance directives or statements that the patient has made;</li> <li>Crisis and contingency plans;</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	2, 13, 29, 30
1		them if they have any questions.The team has a timetabled meeting at least once a week to discuss allocation of referrals, current assessments and reviews.Guidance: Referrals that are urgent or that the team feel do not require discussion can be allocated before the meeting.Every patient has a written care plan, reflecting their individual needs. Staff members collaborate with patients and their carers (with patient consent) when developing the care plan and they are offered a copy.Guidance: The care plan clearly outlines: • Agreed intervention strategies for physical and mental health; • Measurable goals and outcomes; • Strategies for self-management; • Any advance directives or statements that the patient has made;

Number	Туре	Standard	Ref
6.1		Care and treatment – therapies and ac	tivities
6.1.1	1	Patients begin evidence-based interventions, which are appropriate for their bio-psychosocial needs, within an agreed timeframe: Any exceptions are documented in the case notes.	2,10,15,31,32
6.1.2	1	There is dedicated sessional time from psychologists (1) to provide assessment and formulation of patients' psychological needs; (2) to ensure the safe and effective provision of evidence based psychological interventions adapted to patients' needs through a defined pathway.	33,34
6.1.3	2	There is dedicated sessional time from psychologists to support a whole team approach for psychological management.	33,34
6.1.4	1	There is dedicated sessional input from Occupational therapists (1) to provide an occupational assessment for those patients who require it; (2) to ensure the safe and effective provision of evidence based occupational interventions adapted to patients' needs.	2,14
6.1.5	3	There is dedicated sessional input from creative therapists.	2,14
6.1.6	2	The team supports patients to undertake structured activities such as work, education and volunteering. <i>Guidance: For patients who wish to find or return to work, this</i> <i>could include supporting them to access pre-vocational training or</i> <i>employment programmes.</i>	2,17,31,36
6.1.7	1	Patients (and carers, with patient consent) are offered written and verbal information about the patient's mental illness and treatment Guidance: Verbal information could be provided in a 1:1 meeting with a staff member or in a psycho-education group. Written information could include leaflets or websites.	2,7,8,17,30,35
6.1.8	1	The team supports patients to undertake activities to support them to build their social and community networks.	2, 17, 31, 36
6.1.9	1	All staff members who deliver therapies and activities are appropriately trained and supervised.	25, 31, 34, 35

6.2		Care and treatment – medication	
6.2.1	1	When medication is prescribed, specific treatment goals are set with the patient, the risks (including interactions) and benefits are reviewed, a timescale for response is set and patient consent is recorded.	2
6.2.2	1	Patients have their medications reviewed regularly. Medication reviews include an assessment of therapeutic response, safety, management of side effects and adherence to medication regime. <i>Guidance: Side effect monitoring tools can be used to support</i> <i>reviews</i> .	2, 25
6.2.3	1	Patients, carers and prescribers can contact a specialist pharmacist to discuss medications.	2, 25

Number	Туре	Standard	Ref
6.2.4	1	For patients who are taking antipsychotic medication, the team maintains responsibility for monitoring their physical health and the effects of antipsychotic medication for at least the first 12 months or until the person's condition has stabilised, whichever is longer. Thereafter, the responsibility for this monitoring may be transferred to primary care under shared care arrangements.	7

7		Physical healthcare	
7.1	1	Staff members arrange for patients to access screening, monitoring and treatment for physical health problems through primary/secondary care services. This is documented in the patient's care plan.	41, 4
7.2	1	Patients are offered personalised healthy lifestyle interventions, such as advice on healthy eating, physical activity and access to smoking cessation services. This is documented in the patient's care plan.	7, 39, 40
7.3	1	The team including bank and agency staff are able to identify and manage an acute physical health emergency.	2
7.4	1	Patients who are prescribed mood stabilisers or antipsychotics have the appropriate physical health assessments at the start of treatment (baseline), at 6 weeks, at 3 months and then annually (or every six months for young people) unless a physical health abnormality arises.	2, 7, 40, 41, 43

8		Risk and safeguarding	
8.1	1	The team records which patients are responsible for the care of children and vulnerable adults and takes appropriate safeguarding action when necessary.	17, 44, 45

9		Discharge planning and transfer of care		
9.1	2	<ul> <li>A discharge letter is sent to the patient and all relevant parties within 10 days of discharge. The letter includes the plan for: <ul> <li>On-going care in the community/aftercare arrangements;</li> <li>Crisis and contingency arrangements including details of who to contact;</li> <li>Medication, including monitoring arrangements;</li> <li>Details of when, where and who will follow up with the patient as appropriate.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	2, 17, 46	
9.2	1	The community team makes sure that patients who are discharged from hospital are followed up within 3 days.	2, 47, 48, 76	
9.3	1	When patients are transferred between community services there is a handover which ensures that the new team have an up to date care plan and risk assessment.	50	
9.4	2	Teams provide specific transition support to patients when their care is being transferred to another community team, or back to the care of their GP.	2, 46	

Number	Туре	Standard	Ref
9.5	1	There is active collaboration between Children and Young People's Mental Health Services and Working Age Adult Services for patients who are approaching the age for transfer between services. This starts at least 6 months before the date of transfer.	49

10		Interface with other services	
10.1	1	Patients can access help, from mental health services, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Guidance: Out of hours, this may involve crisis/home treatment teams, psychiatric liaison teams.	2, 11, 45
10.2	1	The team supports patients to access: • Housing support; • Support with finances, benefits and debt management; • Social services.	2, 27
10.3	1	<ul> <li>The service/organisation has a care pathway for the care of women in the perinatal period (pregnancy and 12 months postpartum) that includes:</li> <li>Assessment;</li> <li>Care and treatment (particularly relating to prescribing psychotropic medication);</li> <li>Referral to a specialist perinatal team/unit unless there is a specific reason not to do so.</li> </ul>	2, 5

11		Capacity and consent		
11.1	1	Assessments of patients' capacity (and competency for patients under the age of 16) to consent to care and treatment in hospital are performed in accordance with current legislation.	2, 8, 14, 17, 51	

12		Patient involvement	
12.1	1	The service asks patients and carers for their feedback about their experiences of using the service and this is used to improve the service.	8,52
12.2	2	Services are developed in partnership with appropriately experienced patients and carers and have an active role in decision making.	36, 52, 53
12.3	1	Patients are actively involved in shared decision-making about their mental and physical healthcare, treatment and discharge planning and supported in self-management.	7, 8, 17, 36, 52

Number	Туре	Standard	Ref
13		Carer engagement and support	
13.1	1	Carers (with patient consent) are involved in discussions and decisions about the patient's care, treatment and discharge planning.	55
13.2	1	Carers are supported to access a statutory carers' assessment, provided by an appropriate agency. Guidance: This advice is offered at the time of the patient's initial assessment, or at the first opportunity.	55
13.3	2	Carers are offered individual time with staff members to discuss concerns, family history and their own needs.	2, 16, 55
13.4	2	<ul> <li>The team provides each carer with accessible carer's information.</li> <li><i>Guidance: Information is provided verbally and in writing (e.g. carer's pack). This includes:</i></li> <li>The names and contact details of key staff members in the team and who to contact in an emergency;</li> <li>Local sources of advice and support such as local carers' groups, carers' workshops and relevant charities.</li> </ul>	3, 4, 7, 55
13.5	3	The service actively encourages carers to attend carer support networks or groups. There is a designated staff member to support carers.	3, 26, 53, 54, 55

14		Compassion dignity and respect		
14.1	1	Staff members treat patients and carers with compassion, dignity and respect.	52, 64	
14.2	1	Patients feel listened to and understood by staff members.	27	

15		Providing information to patients and carers		
15.1	1	Patients are asked if they and their carers wish to have copies of correspondence about their health and treatment.	18, 45	
15.2	2	The service uses interpreters who are sufficiently knowledgeable and skilled to provide a full and accurate translation. The patient's relatives are not used in this role unless there are exceptional circumstances.	2, 17, 45	

16		Patient confidentiality		
16.1	1	Confidentiality and its limits are explained to the patient and carer, both verbally and in writing. Patient preferences for sharing information with 3rd parties are respected and reviewed regularly.	2, 17, 57	
16.2	1	The team knows how to respond to carers when the patient does not consent to their involvement.	2, 18	

Number	Туре	Standard	Ref
16.3	1	All patient information is kept in accordance with current legislation. Guidance: This includes transfer of patient identifiable information by electronic means. Staff members ensure that no confidential data is visible beyond the team by locking cabinets and offices, using swipe cards and having password protected computer access.	17, 57

17		Service environment	
17.1	2	The environment is clean comfortable and welcoming.	2, 57, 61
17.2	1	Clinical rooms are private, and conversations cannot be overheard.	26
17.3	1	The environment complies with current legislation on disabled access. Guidance: Relevant assistive technology equipment, such handrails, are provided to meet individual needs and to maximise independence.	4, 17, 55, 58
17.4	1	Staff members follow a lone working policy and feel safe when conducting home visits.	2, 45, 59
17.5	1	There is an alarm system in place (e.g. panic buttons or personal alarms) and this is easily accessible for patients, carers and staff members.	2, 17

18		Leadership, team working and culture		
18.1	3	Staff members are able to access reflective practice groups at least every 6 weeks where teams can meet to think about team dynamics and develop their clinical practice.	2	
18.2	1	Staff members feel able to challenge decisions and to raise any concerns they may have about standards of care. They are aware of the processes to follow when raising concerns or whistleblowing.	3, 57, 62, 63	

19		Staffing levels	
19.1	1	<ul> <li>The service has a mechanism for responding to low/unsafe staffing levels, when they fall below minimum agreed levels, including:</li> <li>A method for the team to report concerns about staffing levels;</li> <li>Access to additional staff members;</li> <li>An agreed contingency plan, such as the minor and temporary reduction of non-essential services.</li> </ul>	2, 65
19.2	1	When a staff member is on leave, the team puts a plan in place to provide adequate cover for the patients who are allocated to that staff member.	2
19.3	1	There is an identified senior clinician available at all times who can attend the team base within an hour. <i>Guidance: Some services may have an agreement with a local GP to</i> <i>provide this medical cover.</i>	2, 17

Number	Туре	Standard	Ref
20		Staff recruitment, induction and super	rvision
20.1	2	Appropriately experienced patient or carer representatives are involved in the interview process for recruiting staff members.	13
20.2	1	New staff members, including bank staff, receive an induction based on an agreed list of core competencies. <i>Guidance: This should include arrangements for shadowing</i> <i>colleagues on the team; jointly working with a more experienced</i> <i>colleague; being observed and receiving enhanced supervision</i> <i>until core competencies have been assessed as met.</i>	15, 37, 65, 66
20.3	1	All clinical staff members receive clinical supervision at least monthly, or as otherwise specified by their professional body. <i>Guidance: Supervision should be profession-specific as per</i> <i>professional guidelines and provided by someone with appropriate</i> <i>clinical experience and qualifications.</i>	2, 17, 38
20.4	2	All staff members receive line management supervision at least monthly.	2

21		Staff wellbeing	
21.1	1	The service actively supports staff health and wellbeing. Guidance: For example, providing access to support services, providing access to physical activity programmes, monitoring staff sickness and burnout, assessing and improving morale, monitoring turnover, reviewing feedback from exit reports and taking action where needed.	37, 65, 68, 69
21.2	1	Staff members are able to take breaks during their shift that comply with the European Working Time Directive. Guidance: They have the right to one uninterrupted 20 minute rest break during their working day, if they work more than 6 hours a day. Adequate cover is provided to ensure staff members can take their breaks.	2, 17, 70
21.3	1	Staff members, patients and carers who are affected by a serious incident are offered post incident support.	16, 70, 71

22		Staff training and development	
22.1		Staff members receive training consistent with their role, which is recorded in their personal development plan and is refreshed in accordance with local guidelines. This training includes:	
22.1a	1	The use of legal frameworks, such as the Mental Health Act (or equivalent) and the Mental Capacity Act (or equivalent).	5, 51
22.1b	1	Physical health assessment. Guidance: This includes training in understanding physical health problems, understanding physical observations and when to refer the patient for specialist input.	2, 7, 71

Number	Туре	Standard	Ref
22.1c	1	Safeguarding vulnerable adults and children. Guidance: This includes recognising and responding to the signs of abuse, exploitation or neglect.	2, 22, 23, 72
22.1d	1	Risk assessment and risk management. Guidance: This includes assessing and managing suicide risk and self-harm and the prevention and management of aggression and violence.	2, 23, 24, 72
22.1e	1	Recognising and communicating with patients with cognitive impairment or learning disabilities.	2, 45
22.1f	1	Statutory and mandatory training. Guidance: This includes equality and diversity, information governance and basic life support.	2, 17
22.1g	2	Carer awareness, family inclusive practice and social systems, including carers' rights in relation to confidentiality.	16, 54
22.2	2	Experts by experience are involved in delivering and developing staff training face-to-face.	13

23		Clinical outcome measurement	
23.1	1	Clinical outcome measurement data, including progress against user defined goals, is collected as a minimum at assessment, after 6 months, 12 months and then annually until discharge. Staff can access this data.	2
23.2	2	Staff members review patients' progress against patient-defined goals in collaboration with the patient at the start of treatment, during clinical review meetings and at discharge.	2, 38
23.3	2	The service's clinical outcome data are reviewed at least every six months. The data are shared with commissioners, the team, patients and carers, and used to make improvements to the service.	2, 38

24		The service learns from feedback, complaints and incidents		
24.1	1	Systems are in place to enable staff members to quickly and effectively report incidents and managers encourage staff members to do this.	2, 40, 70, 73	
24.2	1	When mistakes are made in care this is discussed with the patient themselves and their carer, in line with the Duty of Candour agreement.	74	
24.3	1	Lessons learned from untoward incidents and complaints are shared with the team and the wider organisation. There is evidence that changes have been made as a result of sharing the lessons.	8, 71, 73, 75	
24.4	2	The team use quality improvement methods to implement service improvements.	2	
24.5	2	The team actively encourages patients and carers to be involved in QI initiatives.	2	

### References

- Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health. Guidance for commissioners of mental health services for people from black and minority ethnic communities. 2014. https://www.jcpmh.info/wp-content/uploads/jcpmh-bme-guide.pdf
- 2) Royal College of Psychiatrists CCQI Core Standards Working Group 2018.
- 3) Depression in Adults: Recognition and Management: NICE CG90. Published October 2009, Updated April 2018.
- 4) Royal College of Psychiatrists. Improving the physical healthcare of adults with severe mental illness: essential actions. Occasional Paper OP100 October 2016.
- NICE. Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service guidance (CG192). December 2014. Updated April 2018. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192?unlid=7784459752017319195727)
- SIGN. Management of perinatal mood disorders (SIGN 127). 2012. https://www.sign.ac.uk/sign-127-management-of-perinatal-mood-disorders.html
- NICE. Psychosis and schizophrenia in adults: prevention and management (CG178). February 2014. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG178
- 8) British Standards Institution. PAS 1616:2016. Healthcare-Provision of clinical services-Specification. 2016.
- 9) Standards for Perinatal Community Health Services. 4th Edition. CCQI 296, Royal College of Psychiatrists. https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/ccqi/quality-networks/perinatal/pqn-standards-for-community-perinatal-mental-health-services-4th-edition.pdf?sfvrsn=f31a205a\_4
- NHS England. Guidance to support the introduction of access and waiting time standards for mental health services 2015/2016. https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/mh-access-wait-time-guid.pdf
- 11) Department of Health. NHS England. Achieving Better Access to Mental Health Services by 2020. 2014 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/3616 48/mental-health-access.pdf
- 12) MIND. We still need to talk report. A report on access to talking therapies. 2013. https://www.mind.org.uk/media/494424/we-still-need-to-talk\_report.pdf
- 13) NICE. Service user experience in adult mental health: improving the experience of care for people using adult NHS mental health services (CG136). 2011. https://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/CG136
- 14) Department of Health. Mental Health Act code of practice. 2015. Last updated October 31 2017. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-mental-health-act-1983
- 15) Standards for Inpatient Perinatal Mental Health Services. 6th Edition. CCQI Royal College of Psychiatrists, March 2018
- Home Treatment Accreditation Scheme (HTAS) Standards for Home Treatment Teams, 3rd Edition. CCQI, Royal College of Psychiatrists CCQI1261, May 2017
- 17) AIMS-WA Standards for acute inpatient wards for adults of working-age, 6th edition, Royal College of Psychiatrists CCQI1265, Published September 2017.
- NICE. Patient experience in adult NHS services quality standard (QS15). February 2012. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs15
- 19) Rethink Mental Health. 100 ways to support recovery: A guide for mental health professionals.2nd Edition 2013
- 20) Standards For Inpatient Learning Disability Services. 3rd edition, CCQI Royal College of Psychiatrists July 2016
- 21) Royal College of Psychiatrists. Physical health in mental health, OP 67. London, 2009.

- 22) NICE. QS 154 Violence and aggression: short-term management in mental health, health and community settings 2017. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs154
- 23) NICE. Self harm quality standard (QS34). June 2013. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/QS3424)
- 24) MacNeil CA, Hasty MK, Conus, Berk M. Is Diagnosis Enough to Guide Interventions In Mental Health? Using Case Formulation In Clinical Practice. BMC Medicine. 2012, 10:111
- 25) Welsh Assembly Government. The Role of Community Mental Health Teams in Delivering Community. Mental Health Services: Interim Policy Implementation Guidance and Standards. 2010. https://www.scribd.com/document/365812869/The-role-of-community-mental-health-teams-in-deliveringcommunity-mental-health-services-guidance-pdf
- 26) Standards for Adult Inpatient Eating Disorder Services. 2nd Edition CCQI1278. Royal College of Psychiatrists https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/ccqi/quality-networks/eating-disordersqed/2nd-edition-standards-for-adult-inpatient-eating-disorder-services.pdf?sfvrsn=86374031\_2
- 27) National Voices. A Narrative for Person-Centred Coordinated Care. https://www.nationalvoices.org.uk/sites/default/files/public/publications/narrative-for-person-centred-coordinated-care.pdf
- 28) Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health. Guidance for commissioners of community specialist mental health services. 2013. https://www.jcpmh.info/wp-content/uploads/jcpmh-community-guide.pdf
- 29) NHS London Strategic Clinical Networks. London mental health crisis commissioning standards and recommendations. 2014. https://s16878.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/mh-urgent-commiss-booklet-102014.pdf
- 30) World Health Organisation (WHO). mhGAP Intervention Guide; general principles of care. http://www.paho.org/mhgap/en/general\_principal.html
- NICE. Common mental health problems: identification and pathways to care Clinical guideline (CG123). May 2011. https://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/CG123
- 32) IAPT. IAPT for Adults Minimum Quality Standards. https://mentalhealthpartnerships.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/iapt-for-adults-minimum-qualitystandards.pdf
- 33) Health & Care Professions Council. Standards of Proficiency Practitioner Psychologists. http://www.hpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-proficiency/practitioner-psychologists/
- 34) British Psychological Society. Mental health clustering and psychological interventions. 2013. https://www.bps.org.uk/sites/bps.org.uk/files/Member%20Networks/Divisions/DCP/Mental%20Health% 20clustering%20and%20psychological%20intervention.pdf
- 35) NICE. Dementia: assessment, management and support for people living with dementia and their carers (CG97) 2018 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng97
- 36) Mental Health Taskforce to the NHS. The five year forward view for mental health. 2016. https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
- 37) CQC. Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014: Regulation 18: Staffing. https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/regulations-enforcement/regulation-18-staffing#full-regulation
- 38) National Audit of Psychological Therapies (NAPT). NAPT Standards Second Round Audit, 2012-2013. 2012. https://www.hqip.org.uk/resource/national-audit-of-psychological-therapies-reports-from-2011-2013/#.XacfrExFzIU
- 39) Public Health England. Smoke free mental health services in England Implementation document for providers of mental health services. 2016. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/7794
   97/SF\_MH\_services\_in\_England\_\_Guidance\_for\_Providers.pdf

- 40) Royal College of Psychiatrists. Quality Network for Forensic Mental Health Services. Annual Report LSU Cycle 5 2016-2017. https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/ccqi/quality-net works/secure-forensic/forensic-annual-reports-qnfmhs/qnfmhs-lsu-annual-report-2017.pdf?sfvrsn=d6196c07\_2
- Lester Tool: Positive Cardiometabolic Resource. Lester UK adaption 2014 Update http://commissioninguidance.tvscn.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Lester-tool-image.jpg
- 42) NICE. Psychosis and schizophrenia in children and young people: recognition and management (CG155). Published January 2013, updated October 2016.
- 43) NICE. Bipolar disorder, psychosis and schizophrenia in children and young people (QS102). October 2015.
- 44) CQC. Statement on CQC's roles and responsibilities for safeguarding children and adults. June 2015. http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20150710\_CQC\_New\_Safeguarding\_Statement.pdf (Accessed 7.3.19)
- 45) Quality Network for Community CAMHS (QNCC) Standards Working Group.
- 46) NICE. Transition between inpatient mental health settings and community or care home settings (NG53). August 2016. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng53/chapter/Recommendations#hospital-discharge
- 47) Department of Health. Mental Health Policy Implementation Guide-Community Mental Health Teams. https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110908101733/http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsand statistics/Publications/PolicyAndGuidance/DH\_4085759
- 48) National Confidential Enquiry into suicide and safety in mental health, Annual Report 2018. University of Manchester
- 49) Singh SP. (2009) The Great Divide: Transition of Care from Child to Adult Mental Health Services. Current Opinion in Psychiatry, 22, 386-90.
- 50) NICE. Alcohol-use disorders: diagnosis, assessment and management of harmful drinking and alcohol dependence (CG115). February 2011. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG115
- 51) Department of Constitutional Affairs. Mental Capacity Act 2005, Code of Practice. 2007. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/4972 53/Mental-capacity-act-code-of-practice.pdf
- 52) NICE. Service user experience in adult mental health services (QS14). December 2011. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/QS14
- 53) Royal College of Psychiatrists (2017) Standards for Psychiatric Intensive Care Units Quality Network for Psychiatric Intensive Care Units. CCQI267 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/ccqi/quality-networks/picu/picu-qn-stan dards-qnpicu/qnpicu-standards-for-psychiatric-intensive-care-units-2017.pdf?sfvrsn=2c6614a2\_2
- 54) Carers Trust. The triangle of care, 2nd edition. 2013. https://professionals.carers.org/sites/default/files/thetriangleofcare\_guidetobestpracticeinmentalhealth care\_england.pdf
- 55) Department of Health. Care Act factsheets. Updated 19 April 2016. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-2014-part-1-factsheets/care-act-factsheets
- 56) GOV.UK. Equality Act 2010: guidance (Discrimination: your rights). https://www.gov.uk/discrimination-your-rights
- 57) Department of Health. The NHS Constitution for England. October 2015. https://www.gov.uk/govern ment/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/the-nhs-constitution-for-england
- 58) United Nations. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities Articles. https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities-2.html

- 59) The NHS Staff Council. Improving safety for lone workers. 2013. https://www.nhsemployers.org/case-stud ies-and-resources/2013/10/improving-safety-for-lone-workers-a-guide-for-lone-workers
- 60) BMA EWTD Junior Doctors FAQ, last updated 7.12.18 https://www.bma.org.uk/advice/employment/working-hours/ewtd-juniors-faq
- 61) Department of Health. Towards cleaner hospitals and lower rates of infection. A summary of action. https://www.nric.org.uk/node/53978
- 62) Royal College of Psychiatrists (2013). ENABLING ENVIRONMENTS STANDARDS. CCQI 267. https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/ccqi/quality-networks/enabling-environ ments-ee/ee-standards-document-2015.pdf?sfvrsn=abdcca36\_2
- 63) Francis R. Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry. London, The Stationery Office 2013. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/2791 24/0947.pdf
- 64) Joint Commissioning Panel For Mental Health. Crisis resolution and home treatment teams. http://www.jcpmh.info/commissioning-tools/cases-for-change/crisis/what-works/crisis-resolution/
- 65) Royal College of Psychiatrists (2017) Quality Standards for Liaison Psychiatry Services, Fifth Edition. CCQI 259. https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/ccqi/quality-networks/psychiatric-liaisonservices-plan/plan-5th-edition-standards-2017.pdf?sfvrsn=ae984319\_2
- 66) Eales S, Callaghan P, Johnson B (2006) Service Users and Other stakeholders evaluation of a liaison mental health service in A and E department and general hospital setting. Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing. 13, 70-77.
- 67) The Point of Care Foundation. Staff care: How to engage staff in the NHS and why it matters. 2014. https://engageforsuccess.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Staff-Report-2014.pdf
- 68) NICE. Mental wellbeing at work (PH22). November 2009. https://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/PH22
- 69) NHS England. Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) Guidance for 2016/17. 2016. https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/cquin-guidance-16-17-v3.pdf
- 70) NHS England. Serious Incident Framework. 2015. https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/serious-incidnt-framwrk-upd.pdf
- 71) Royal College of Psychiatrists (2016). Accreditation for Community Mental Health Services (ACOMHS) Standards. CCQI 239 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/ccqi/quality-net works/adult-community-teams-(acomhs)/acomhs-standards-first-edition-2016.pdf?sfvrsn=4dcf4a70\_2
- 72) HM Government. Prevent Strategy. 2011. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/9797 6/prevent-strategy-review.pdf
- 73) Francis R. Freedom to speak up. 2015 http://freedomtospeakup.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/F2SU\_web.pdf
- 74) CQC. Duty of candour. 2016. https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/regulations-enforcement/regula tion-20-duty-candour#full-regulation
- 75) Standards for Forensic Mental Health Services: Low and Medium Secure Care Second Edition, CCQI264, Royal College of Psychiatrists, June 2017 www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/ccqi/quality-networks/secure-forensic/forensicstandards-qnfmhs/qnfmhs-standards-for-forensic-mental-health-services-2nd-edition-2017.pdf?sfvrsn=3b7e16ba\_2
- 76) National Confidential Enquiry into suicide and safety in mental health 2018 Annual Report, University of Manchester https://www.research.manchester.ac.uk/portal/files/77517884/REPORT\_NCISH\_2018\_Report.pdf

### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Jen Perry, Lucy Palmer and Adrian Worrall who were Editors of the first and second editions of these standards.

We would like to thank all the people listed below who contributed to this edition:

Harriet Clarke (Head of Quality and Accreditation, CCQI) Andrew Gordon (Patient Representative) Sophie Hodge (Head of Quality and Accreditation, CCQI) Nadeem Khan (Programme Manager, CCQI) Margaret Oates (Chair, Combined Committee for Accreditation, CCQI) Peter Thompson (Senior Associate Director, CCQI) Alison Thomson (Deputy Chair, Combined Committee for Accreditation, CCQI)

We would also like to acknowledge the contributions of the following people to previous versions of the standards:

Mark Beavon, Clare Bingham, Polly Blaydes, Jim Bolton, Francesca Brightey-Gibbons, Sabina Burzer, Roch Cantwell, Elaine Clarke, Mike Crawford, Stephan Curran, Julie Curtis, John Devapriam, Lorna Farquharson, Megan Georgiou, Daniel Harwood, Samantha Holder, Ian Hulatt, Michael Humes, Eliza Johnson, Veronica Kamerling, Tim McDougall, Alexander Onyenaobiya, Sarah Paget, Hannah Rodell, Mary Rodgers, Pranveer Singh, Renata Souza, Chris Wright, Norman Young.

These standards were published in September 2019.

© 2019 The Royal College of Psychiatrists The Royal College of Psychiatrists is a charity registered in England and Wales (228636) and in Scotland (SC038369)